#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL KIRSCH; AND SIU YIP,

Supreme Court No. 70854

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

1

2

Appellants,

Appeal from District Electronically Filed Mai 15 2017 08:26 a.m. A-14-706397-B Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

PETER G. TRABER; JAMES C. CZIRR; JACK W. CALLICUTT;

GILBERT F. AMELIO; KEVIN D.

FREEMAN; ARTHUR R.

GREENBERG; ROD D. MARTIN;

JOHN F. MAULDIN; STEVEN

PRELACK; HERMAN PAUL

PRESSLER, III; DR. MARC RUBIN;

AND GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS,

INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Submitted by:

DAVID S. LEE, ESQ.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Nevada Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

On March 3, 2016, the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez of the Nevada District Court for Clark County granted Respondents'/Defendants' Motions to Dismiss Plaintiff-Appellant Michael Kirsch's ("Appellant") shareholder derivative action and the shareholder derivative action filed by Intervenor Plaintiffs David L. Hasbrouck and Siu Yip. The Order granting the motions to dismiss was entered on April 1, 2016. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000001-APP000004). On April 5, 2016, Respondents/Defendants filed a Motion to Correct Order relating to the Order dismissing the shareholder derivative action. On May 27, 2016, Judge Gonzalez denied Defendants' Motion to Correct Order, and the Order denying the Motion to Correct Order was entered on June 16, 2016. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000005-APP000010). Judge Gonzalez' denial of the Motion to Correct Order rendered the April 1, 2016 Order dismissing the shareholder derivative action a final order or judgment pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(4)(C) and is the order from which this appeal is taken.

Notice of appeal was filed on July 15, 2016 by Appellant Kirsch and Intervenor Plaintiff Siu Yip. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000011-APP000019). As such, Appellant's appeal was timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

#### II.

#### 2 ||

4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | .

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Appellant submits that this matter is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(7), (13) and (14). The present cases raise an issue of first impression in two regards. First, there is no Nevada case determining whether a denial of a motion to dismiss is considered a "final judgment" for purposes of having preclusive effect in general. Second, there is no Nevada case holding that a later federal court's grant of a motion to dismiss has reverse-preclusive effect upon a prior Nevada district court denial of a motion to dismiss a similar case.

This case presents a further issue of public policy and law regarding the respect one court must give the rulings of another and, specifically, whether a federal court which ignores a prior state court ruling and issues an opposite ruling than the prior state court, can in effect reverse the prior state court ruling. Although Article IV, Section 1 of the U.S. Constitution (the "Full Faith and Credit Clause") requires each state to recognize the judicial decisions of other states, the courts have applied the doctrine to federal courts respecting state court decisions. The present case raises the issue of whether or not a federal court can in effect reverse the ruling of a Nevada court.

#### III.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Whether a Nevada district court (the "Nevada District Court") which issues an Order denying a motion to dismiss after full briefing and oral argument, must reverse its Order and dismiss the case, in deference to a United States District Court from the Northern District of Georgia (the "Federal Court") which subsequent to the Nevada District Court Order denying the motion to dismiss, grants a motion to dismiss a similar case?
- (2) Whether a later issued Federal Court grant of a motion to dismiss a shareholder derivative action on the basis of failure to adequately plead demand futility has reverse-preclusive effect upon a prior Nevada District Court denial of a motion to dismiss a similar case?
- (3) Whether a later issued Federal Court grant of a motion to dismiss a shareholder derivative action on the basis of failure to adequately plead demand futility has reverse-preclusive effect upon a prior Nevada District Court denial of a motion to dismiss a similar case where the Nevada District Court action's factual allegations supporting demand futility were not identical to those raised in the Federal Court action?
- (4) Whether the Nevada District Court's Order denying a motion to dismiss a shareholder derivative action based upon the Nevada District Court's finding –

after full briefing and oral argument – that the derivative action adequately pled demand futility, is considered a 'final order' under Nevada preclusion law?

(5) Does the Federal Court's dismissal have reverse-preclusive effect when that ruling was based upon an incorrect finding that the Nevada District Court's August 10, 2015 dismissal was not on the merits and was merely based upon "mootness," when the Nevada District Court specifically ruled that its August 10, 2015 denial of the motion to dismiss was "a substantive ruling on the issue of demand futility, which was reached following briefing and oral argument on that issue."

#### IV.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 29, 2014, Appellant Michael Kirsch filed his Verified Shareholder Derivative Complaint for breaches of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment and corporate waste in connection with Galectin Therapeutics Inc.'s ("Galectin" or the "Company") board of directors' ("Board") involvement in the publication of false and misleading claims that Galectin had discovered a new and effective drug treatment of pre-cancerous early stage liver fibrosis or "NASH." (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000020-APP000045).

On November 17, 2014, the Individual Defendants¹ and Nominal Defendant Galectin (together, with the Individual Defendants, the "Defendants"), filed a Motion to Stay the Case in Deference to the prior-filed Parallel Derivative Litigation.² (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000046-APP000165). On December 19, 2014, the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez ("Judge Gonzalez" or "the lower court") issued an order denying Defendants' Motion to Stay the Case in Deference to prior-filed Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000166). On January 8, 2015, Defendants filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Ruling Denying Defendants' Motion to Stay the Case, which the lower court denied on February 6, 2015. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000167-APP000189).

On March 19, 2015, Appellant filed a motion for leave to file Plaintiff's Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint, in order to add allegations concerning a Company director who was one of the nation's largest stock promoters who personally published repeated false representations that Galectin had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Peter G. Traber, James C. Czirr, Jack W. Callicutt, Gilbert F. Amelio, Kevin D. Freeman, Arthur R. Greenberg, Rod D. Martin, John F. Mauldin, Steven Prelack, Herman Paul Pressler, III and Marc Rubin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation" refers to the case pending before the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia captioned *In re Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. Derivative Litigation*, Lead Case No.: 1:15-CV-00208-SCJ (N.D. Ga.).

discovered a scientific "breakthrough" cure to certain forms of cancer, to entice investors. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000190-APP000285). On March 27, 2015, the Court granted Appellant's motion for leave to file a Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint and Appellant filed his Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint ("SAC") that same day. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000186-APP000368).

The SAC alleged that the Director Defendants added a directorship to the Company's already bloated Board in order to appoint defendant Mauldin, who has no scientific, medical, or biopharmaceutical education or experience, but is the owner and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") of Mauldin Economics, LLC ("Mauldin Economics"), one of the largest stock promotion operations in the United States. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000303, ¶53, APP000305, ¶59, APP000307, ¶67). These allegations lead to the reasonable inference that Defendants added Mauldin to the Board so that defendant Mauldin could utilize his websites and their newsletters to pump Galectin stock. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000305, ¶59).

Indeed, in the months and years after being brought onto the Galectin Board, Mauldin published a barrage of articles promising investors huge profits based on false claims that Galectin had made major transformative scientific breakthrough discoveries of medications for the treatment of cancer. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol.

14

25 26

27

28

II, APP000307-APP000308, ¶¶67-72, APP000309 ¶¶74-75, APP000312 ¶84, APP000314-APP000318 ¶¶91-93, APP000321 ¶97 and ¶99, APP000322 ¶101, APP000324-APP000327 ¶¶103-111, APP000329-APP000333 ¶¶116-118, APP000335-APP000337 ¶123-125, APP000345 ¶153).

Appellant's SAC sets forth unique and alarming allegations going beyond accusing the Board of knowing the Company was planting false articles pumping the Company's stock; the SAC alleges that a member of the Board himself was penning and planting the false articles and that Czirr and Martin had added him to the Board precisely for that purpose.

On April 22, 2015, the Individual Defendants and Nominal Defendant Galectin each filed their Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint and Memorandum of Points and Authorities. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. III, APP000369-APP000559 and Appellant's Appendix, Vol. IV, APP000560-APP000759, respectively). On May 20, 2015, Appellant filed his Combined Memorandum of Law in Opposition to the Nominal Defendant and Individual Defendants' Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. IV, APP000760-APP000798). On May 29, 2015, plaintiffs David L. Hasbrouck and Siu Yip filed their Motion to Intervene. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. V, APP000799-APP000992). On June 4, 2015, the Individual Defendants and

Nominal Defendant Galectin filed their Reply Memorandums in Support of their Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. V, APP000993-APP000999 and Appellant's Appendix, Vol. V, APP001000-APP001043, respectively).

On June 11, 2015, the lower court conducted an oral hearing on the Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint and on the Motion to Intervene. During the hearing, Judge Gonzalez indicated that she had read and carefully considered the briefs she had received from the parties on the subject of demand futility. Each party was provided the opportunity to make an initial oral presentation and to then engage in further argument, debate and interaction with the Judge on the issue of demand futility.

Appellant argued that because Mauldin was one of the nation's largest stock promoters, it was reasonable to infer that the Board had added the directorship and appointed Mauldin as a director in order for Mauldin to pump Galectin's stock through false and misleading claims presented as if they were independent commentary upon the Company. On August 5, 2015, Judge Gonzalez entered an Order denying Defendants' Motions to Dismiss the Second Amended Shareholder Derivative Complaint and granting a 180 day stay. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VI, APP001044-APP001049).

On January 19, 2016, Nominal Defendant Galectin and the Individual Defendants each filed a Second Motion to Dismiss Shareholder Derivative Action, this time on the basis of *res judicata* in favor of a December 30, 2015 order issued in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (the "Georgia federal district court"), dismissing the Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation. *In re Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. Derivative Litigation*, Lead Case No.: 1:15-CV-00208-SCJ (N.D. Ga.) (Dkt. No. 90). (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VI, APP001050-APP001054 and Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VI and VII, APP001055-APP001470, respectively).

On March 3, 2016, Judge Gonzalez granted Defendants' Motions to Dismiss<sup>3</sup> on the basis that Judge Gonzalez's August 5, 2015 Order denying Defendants' Motions to Dismiss was not a "final order" under Nevada law. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VIII, APP001550-APP001560). Reasoning that an order denying a motion to dismiss is not a final order, the lower court concluded that it was bound to reverse its August 5, 2015 ruling in light of the later December 30, 2015 grant of a motion to dismiss by the Georgia federal district court in the Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation. On May 27, 2016, Judge Gonzalez denied Defendants'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Order granting the motions to dismiss was entered on April 1, 2016, and a final order denying a Motion to Correct the Order was entered on June 16, 2016. (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000001-APP000004 and APP000005-APP000010).

1 /

Motion to Correct Order, and the Order was entered on June 16, 2016. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000005-APP000010).

In issuing the June 16, 2016 Order, Judge Gonzalez took issue with two representations made by Defendants – in whose favor the Order ruled – noting that Defendants misrepresented to the Georgia federal district court what had occurred in the lower court, and misrepresented to the lower court what was occurring in the Georgia federal district court. First, Judge Gonzalez noted in the March 3, 2016 Minutes of the oral hearing, that the lower court had granted a 180 day stay on August 5, 2015 after denying Defendants Motions to Dismiss, based upon a misrepresentation by Defendants as to what was occurring in the Georgia federal district court:

"[T]he Court is concerned that the representations made to the Court by Mr. Smith at the last time this motion was argued, in June 2015, were that issues raised in Georgia relate to class representation issues, and the Court stayed the case based on those representations,...."

(See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VII, APP001471-APP001472).

Second, Judge Gonzalez noted in the lower court's June 16, 2016 Order that the lower court's August 5, 2015 denial of Defendants' Motions to Dismiss had been a "substantive ruling on the issue of demand futility, which was reached following briefing and oral argument regarding that issue...." (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. IV, APP000003, Paragraph 6). However, in the Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation, Defendants misrepresented to the Georgia federal district

5

6 7

9

8

10 11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24 25

26

27

28

court that the lower court had not issued a ruling on the issue of demand futility. Defendants wrongly convinced the Georgia federal district court that the lower court merely denied Defendants' Motions to Dismiss on procedural grounds and did not issue a substantive ruling on the issue of demand futility:

[Defendants] view of that is that it was a procedural ruling, essentially a denial based on mootness grounds because they had to amend their complaint in Nevada.....[The Northern District of Georgia] can read it just the way [Defendants] read it, which is that it's simply a denial based on mootness because [Judge Gonzalez] knows another complaint is coming and because [Judge Gonzalez] doesn't have to take up the merits and because she wants to defer to [the Northern District of Georgia][.]

*In re Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. Securities Litigation*, Civil Action No. 1:15cv-29-SCJ (November 3, 2015) at 63:1-4 and 74:10-14. (See Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VIII, APP001473-APP001549, APP001535 & APP001546).

Defendants convinced the Georgia federal district court to rule upon the issue of demand futility, by convincing the Georgia federal district court that the lower court had not done so. Defendants accomplished this by selectively citing the transcript of the lower court oral argument and never referencing the lower court's written August 5, 2015 Order, even though under well-settled Nevada law a Court's written order is the sole controlling source defining the Court's ruling. Canterino v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 42 P.3d 808, 810 (Nev. 2002). None the less, following Defendants' lead, the Georgia federal court relied entirely upon the transcript of the hearing on the Motions to Dismiss before Judge Gonzalez:

Review of the transcript (Doc. No. [79-4]) and subsequent order prepared by the parties does not indicate whether Judge Gonzalez denied the motion to dismiss based on the merits of the case or mootness....The Court cannot conclude whether Judge Gonzalez issued a final ruling on the merits with respect to the issue of demand futility. Because it is unclear whether issue preclusion applies, the Court is not precluded from considering demand futility."

In re Galectin Therapeutics, Inc. Derivative Litigation, Lead Case No.: 1:15-CV-00208-SCJ (N.D. Ga. Dec. 30, 2015) at 11, citing Doc. Nos. [79-4; and, 81-1]. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. VIII, APP001571).

The lower court set the record straight in its April 1, 2016 order by explicitly stating that, contrary to Defendants' representations to the Georgia federal district court, "the Court's August 10, 2015 order was a substantive ruling on the issue of demand futility." (*See* Appellant's Appendix, Vol. I, APP000003, Paragraph 6).

Despite the lower court's distaste with the misrepresentations Defendants utilized to convince her to stay the case, and then to convince the Georgia federal district court that the lower court had not ruled upon demand futility, the lower court felt compelled to defer to the later Georgia federal district court ruling regardless of how it had been obtained.

In fact, the lower court was in error to feel compelled to reverse itself since under Nevada preclusion law, Judge Gonzalez's denial of Defendants' Motions to Dismiss entered on August 5, 2015, had sufficient finality so as to constitute an order with preclusive effect. Otherwise stated, Judge Gonzalez was not bound –

and in essence overruled – by the later dismissal of the Parallel Georgia Derivative Litigation.

V.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Galectin is a development-stage biopharmaceutical company which, though it never made a profit or developed a drug approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA"), describes itself as "a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company that is applying its leadership in galectin science and drug development to create new therapies for fibrotic disease and cancer." By 2009, after nearly a decade of fruitless efforts to move towards FDA approval of its sole drug candidate, GM-CT-01 (originally titled "Davanat"), the Company's stock was trading at under \$1 per share, after having traded at over \$20 per share for several years after the Company went public in 2003. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000298, ¶35).

On February 12, 2009, Defendants Czirr and Martin engaged in a self-described "take-over" of Galectin in which they (through the 10X Fund, L.P., of which Defendants Czirr and Martin are the co-founders) acquired all of the Company's Series B preferred stock, enabling Czirr and Martin to appoint themselves Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000298, ¶34). With no medical, scientific or biopharmaceutical education, Czirr and Martin focused on marketing and appointed and nominated a

board devoid of scientific or medical experience or education. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000297, ¶32, APP000300-APP000301, ¶¶43-45). The day Czirr and Martin took over the Company, virtually the entire scientific leadership of the Company resigned, leaving the Company with six employees, only two of which were involved in research and development at all. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000298-APP000299, ¶¶ 36-38; APP000300, ¶43; APP000606, ¶¶64-65; APP000322, ¶¶101-102).

The Company's dominant focus on marketing, to the virtual exclusion of science and medicine and development of effective medications, was reflected in the appointment of Defendants Greenberg and Mauldin to the Board. *Id*.

Defendant Greenberg was a marketing expert with no medical, scientific or biopharmaceutical background whatsoever - "[h]e is the President, Founder and owner of Prism Technologies, Inc. since 1983, which provides professional sales and marketing services." (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000299, ¶41).

Similarly, Defendant Mauldin, had no scientific, biopharmaceutical or medical education or experience. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000303, ¶53). Nonetheless, on May 26, 2011, Defendants created a tenth directorship position for the Company, which already had more directors than employees, to which they appointed John Mauldin, one of the nation's largest stock promoters. (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000301, ¶45).

Prior to his appointment to the Galectin Board, Mauldin had been censured and fined by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") for "exaggerated and unwarranted claims," "unwarranted projection of future performance," and "failure to disclose his affiliation with the member firm." (Appellant's Appendix, Vol. II, APP000302, ¶52). It was precisely this type of deceptive stock promotion activity that Mauldin engaged in on behalf of Galectin. *Id.* None of the above facts were disclosed to shareholders.

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