IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL KIRSCH and SIU YIP,

Supreme Court No. 70854

Appellants,

v.

PETER G. TRABER; JAMES C. CZIRR; JACK CALLICUTT; GILBERT F. AMELIO; KEVIN D. FREEMAN; ARTHUR R. GREENBERG; ROD D. MARTIN; JOHN F. MAULDIN; STEVEN PRELACK; HERMAN PAUL PRESSLER, III; DR. MARC RUBIN; AND GALECTIN THERAPEUTICS, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION,

Appeal from Case Electronically Filed
A-14-706397-B Apr 28 2017 04:21 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
in the Eighth Judicier Botts up for the Court
of Clark County, Nevada

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Submitted by:

LYSSA S. ANDERSON (#5781)
RYAN W. DANIELS (# 13094)
KAEMPFER CROWELL
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 650

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' appeal boils down to a single and demonstrably incorrect that the district court's August 2015 Order denying Defendants' motions to dismiss was a "final judgment." It was not, as the district court correctly held. The August 2015 Order was not a "judgment" of any kind, nor was it in any sense a "final" ruling on the issue of demand futility. The August 2015 Order denied motions to dismiss Plaintiff Kirsch's SAC "at this point," but contemplated the filing of additional superseding pleadings as to which demand futility issues would need to be addressed and warned Mr. Kirsch that he should "beef up" his allegations in any amended complaint. APP001650; APP001626. The district court also stayed this case in deference to the prior-filed Federal Derivative Case, where a Rule 23.1 demand futility motion challenging Plaintiff Yip's substantively identical allegations in the Federal Derivative Case had been pending since July 8, 2015. APP001626; APP001651; APP001048; APP001566.

² Although the April 2016 Order also stated that "[t]his Court's August 10, 2015 order staying the case for 180 days was based upon representations made to the Court by [Defendants' counsel] at the June 11, 2015 hearing that issues raised in Georgia relate to class representations issues" (APP000003, ¶ 5), the district court's basis for making that assertion is unclear. Indeed, as the transcript of the June 11, 2015 hearing confirms, Defendants' counsel made no such representations. APP001627-53; APP001785-88; APP001791-93; APP001874-76.

Nothing in the record suggests that the district court intended the August 2015 Order to be "final" or conclusive of the issue of demand futility, either in this case or the Federal Derivative Case.

This Court and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (applying Nevada law) have held that an order denying a motion to dismiss is not a "final" order or judgment. The April 2016 Order ruling is consistent with those precedents. Plaintiffs do not cite a single Nevada case holding that an order denying a motion to dismiss is a final judgment for preclusion purposes. This alone is sufficient basis on which to reject Plaintiffs' misguided argument that the August 2015 Order was a "final judgment" that must "take precedence" over the Northern District of Georgia's undisputedly final judgment dismissing the Federal Derivative Case with prejudice for failure to plead demand futility.

Plaintiffs argue, however, that the district court's August 2015 Order should be deemed a "final judgment" for purposes of issue preclusion under the Restatement § 13 definition of "final judgment" as including "any prior adjudication of an issue in another action that is determined to be sufficiently firm to be accorded conclusive effect." Not only has no Nevada court adopted this "sufficiently firm" test of "finality" for issue preclusion purposes, the August 2015 Order clearly fails to satisfy the test for finality articulated in Restatement § 13.

Under the Restatement test, an order or judgment must not be "tentative"; it must be "firm," "procedurally definite," and must reflect the issuing court's "last word" on the subject in order to be deemed final. The record here does not support a conclusion that the district court's 2015 demand futility rulings were intended as the district court's "last word" on the issue of demand futility. To the contrary, the district court's statement that it would not dismiss Plaintiffs' claims "at this point" (APP001650; APP001626) indicates that the ruling was tentative, and subject to later revision, rather than firm, procedurally definite, and the district court's "last word" on demand futility. The district court's admonition that Kirsch should "beef up" his demand futility allegations should he file an amended complaint attempting to cure his lack of standing further confirms that the district court was fully prepared to further address demand futility, and that the August 2015 order did not reflect the district court's "last word" on that subject. APP001650.3 What need

_

This Court's observation in *Canterino v. Mirage Casino-Hotel* that "until the entry of a final judgment, the district court remains free to reconsider and issue a written judgment different from its oral pronouncement; thus, only a final judgment has any effect and only a final judgment may be appealed" does not preclude this Court from considering the complete record in this case in assessing Plaintiffs' argument that the August 2015 Order was "sufficiently firm" to be deemed a "final judgment" under the Restatement § 13 test. 118 Nev. 191, 194, 42 P.3d 808, 810 (2002). Plaintiffs' own cases applying the Restatement § 13 test confirm that courts should consider the complete record in assessing whether a prior order was "sufficiently firm." *See, e.g., Gilldorn Sav. Ass'n v. Commerce Sav. Ass'n*, 804 F.2d 390, 393 (7th Cir. 1986) (finding prior ruling "sufficiently firm" for issue preclusion purposes where "[n]othing in the order itself *or in the record* indicates that the order was tentative") (emphasis added).

would there be to "beef up" Kirsch's demand futility allegations if the district court considered the demand futility issue conclusively and "finally" decided? Finally, the August 2015 Order stayed this case in deference to the prior-filed Federal Derivative Case, where the district court knew a demand futility motion was being briefed. Nothing about the circumstances of these 2015 rulings suggest that those rulings meet the Restatement § 13 definition of finality of a judgment—a definition which no Nevada court has adopted.

Because the August 2015 Order was not a "final judgment," it does not take "precedence" over the Northern District of Georgia's Final Judgment dismissing the Federal Derivative Case with prejudice for failure to plead demand futility. Accordingly, the sole basis on which Plaintiffs seek reversal of the district court's order and judgment dismissing this case is meritless. The district court correctly applied governing issue preclusion principles to hold that the Federal Final Judgment—which Plaintiffs did not dispute below and do no dispute in this appeal was final and determined demand futility issues identical to those presented in this case—was conclusive of the demand futility issue in this case. The April 2016 Order and judgment of dismissal should be affirmed.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

- A. The District Court's August 2015 Order Was Not A "Final Judgment."
 - 1. The August 15 Order was not a final judgment under existing Nevada law.

Nevada law is clear that, for issue preclusion to apply, a final judgment is required. See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby, 124 Nev. 1048, 1054-55, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008). This Court has held that an order or judgment is "final" only if it "disposes of all the issues presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the court, except for post-judgment issues such as attorney's fees and costs." Lee v. GNLV Corp., 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000). Clearly, the August 2015 Order does not satisfy that definition of "finality," as This Court has also repeatedly distinguished Plaintiffs tacitly concede. "interlocutory district court orders denying motions to dismiss" from "final judgment[s]" in denying writ relief from such orders. See, e.g., Int'l Game Tech., Inc. v. Second Judicial Dist. Ct. of Cty. of Washoe, 124 Nev. 193, 197, 179 P.3d 556, 558 (2008) ("[B]ecause an appeal from the final judgment typically constitutes an adequate and speedy legal remedy, we generally decline to consider writ petitions that challenge interlocutory district court orders denying motions to dismiss."). In addition, in a decision applying Nevada law, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that the denial of a motion to dismiss a derivative suit based on demand futility grounds (in contrast to an order granting such a motion) is not a final order. *See Arduini v. Hart*, 774 F.3d 622, 632 (9th Cir. 2014). The district court's holding that the August 2015 Order "was not a final order under Nevada law" (APP000003, ¶ 6) is fully consistent with these precedents.

In contrast, Plaintiffs cite no Nevada case (nor any case applying Nevada law) holding that the denial of a motion to dismiss attacking the legal sufficiency of allegations in a complaint—much less one that, like the August 2015 Order, also contemplates the filing of additional superseding complaints and orders a case stayed in deference to parallel proceedings in another court where a substantively identical motion to dismiss is pending—constitutes a "final" judgment or order.⁴

2. The August 2015 Order was not "final" under the Restatement § 13 definition.

Although no Nevada court has so held, Plaintiffs contend that an order denying a motion to dismiss may be deemed "final" under the Restatement § 13 definition, stating that "for purposes of issue preclusion (as distinguished from merger and bar), 'final judgment' includes any prior adjudication of an issue in another action that is determined to be sufficiently firm to be accorded conclusive

23

⁴ This Court's observation in *Garcia v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America* that "the finality requirement is less stringent for issue than for claim preclusion" does not help Plaintiffs. 293 P.3d 869, 874 n.7 (Nev. 2013) (quoting *Christo v. Padgett*, 223 F.3d 1324, 1339 (11th Cir. 2000)). The Court made that statement in response to the appellant's argument that a without-prejudice dismissal should not be afforded preclusive effect and in no way suggests that an order like the August 2015 Order should be deemed "final" for issue preclusion purposes. *Id*.

effect." Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 13 (1982); *see* Pl. Br. at 24. As shown below, however, even if Nevada were to adopt the Restatement § 13 approach providing that, under the right circumstances, an interlocutory order denying a motion to dismiss *can* be deemed "final" for issue preclusion purposes, this Court should affirm the district court's correct conclusion that the August 2015 Order in this case was not "final" for purposes of issue preclusion, or any purpose.

The comments to § 13 of the Restatement provide that, to be deemed "final" for purposes of issue preclusion, a decision must not be "tentative," but instead must be the "last word" of the rendering court on the issue in question. Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 13 (1982), comment a. Here, the record is clear that the August 2015 Order was *not* intended to be the district court's "last word" or "final" determination of the issue of demand futility.

The August 2015 Order's lack of finality on this point is apparent from the district court's statements at the June 11, 2015 hearing that (i) it would not dismiss the SAC "at this point" and (ii) should Mr. Kirsch seek to amend his complaint yet again to remedy his standing "problems," he should "beef up" his demand futility

1191-92 (1994).

Although this Court cited Restatement § 13 in *University of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, that decision did not examine the finality of an earlier ruling for issue preclusion purposes, nor did it adopt or apply the "sufficiently firm" test of Restatement § 13, but instead held that issue preclusion did not apply because it was not sufficiently clear from the record that the issue for which preclusion was asserted had in fact been decided. *See* 110 Nev. 581, 599-601, 879 P.2d 1180,

allegations. APP001650; APP001626. The statement that the SAC would not be dismissed "at this point" implicitly contemplates that dismissal on demand futility grounds could be addressed at a future point, which is inconsistent with finality. See Ten Mile Indus. Park v. Western Plains Serv. Corp., 810 F.2d 1518, 1523-24 (10th Cir. 1987) (holding that denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction was not a final ruling where the ruling court authorized movants to renew their motion later in the proceedings; declining to give preclusive effect to order); Drake v. Whaley, 355 Fed. Appx. 315, 317 (11th Cir. 2009) (holding that order denying motion to dismiss but leaving dispositive issue regarding equitable tolling to be decided at trial was not "final" for issue preclusion purposes). The district court's warning that Kirsch should "beef up" his demand futility allegations in any further amended complaint supplies additional confirmation that the district court envisioned further addressing demand futility issues later in the proceedings (if it did not, what need would there be for Kirsch to "beef up" his allegations?) and that the August 2015 Order, therefore would not be the district court's "last word" on the subject. APP001650.

The following exchange between counsel for Plaintiff Kirsch and the district court at the January 2016 Status Check in this case further underscores the point that the district court envisioned further consideration of demand futility issues and did not view its August 2015 Order as having conclusively decided such issues:

MR. MILLER: Judge, for plaintiff, we were planning to file a motion for leave to amend and an amended complaint. Which we have prepared, so it would be –

THE COURT: So you want to better plead demand futility, huh?

MR. MILLER: We're taking the Judge's suggestion at the end of the last hearing. But we have it ready. We would be ready to file by the end of the week, just get back to the office and file.

APP001777 (emphasis added).

That the district court (i) was twice advised that Mr. Kirsch intended to amend his complaint (although he never did); (ii) twice commented that Kirsch should improve his demand futility allegations in any such amended complaint; (iii) stated in 2015 that it would not dismiss the case "at this point"; and (iv) stayed the case in deference to the prior-filed Federal Derivative Case where demand futility briefing was underway also indicate that the August 2015 Order was "tentative," which further cuts against a finding of finality under the Restatement and cases on which Plaintiffs rely. See Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 13 (1982), comment a ("conclusive carry-over effect should not be accorded a judgment which is considered merely tentative in the very action in which it was rendered"); id. comment g ("preclusion should be refused if the decision was avowedly tentative"); but see Pellerin v. Nev. Cty., 635 Fed. Appx. 345, 346-47 (9th Cir. July 1, 2015) (giving preclusive effect to factual findings made following two-day evidentiary hearing where, among other things, those findings were not "tentative"); *Gilldorn*, 804 F.2d at 393 (finding prior ruling "sufficiently firm" for issue preclusion purposes where "[n]othing in the order itself or the record indicates that the order was tentative").

In short, far from there being "no really good reason for permitting [the issue of demand futility] to be litigated again"—which Plaintiffs posit as another standard for assessing "finality" of a ruling for issue preclusion purposes (Pl. Br. at 25), the record here indicates that the district court anticipated further addressing demand futility if necessary. There also is no indication in the record that the district court believed or intended that its August 2015 Order would preclude the Northern District of Georgia from undertaking its own assessment of demand futility in the Federal Derivative Case. To the contrary, the August 2015 Order stayed proceedings in this action in deference to the prior-filed Federal Derivative Case, where motions to dismiss asserting demand futility and other arguments for dismissal were pending. APP001048; APP001566. Thus, application of the precise standards Plaintiffs advocate—(i) the Restatement § 13 definition of "final judgment" and (ii) the test of whether there is "really no good reason for permitting [demand futility] to be litigated again"—compel the same conclusion that the district court reached in its April 2016 Order: that the August 2015 Order was not a "final" judgment that (i) bound that Northern District of Georgia or (ii) must "take precedence" over the Federal Final Judgment.

3. Plaintiffs' cases do not support a conclusion that the August 2015 Order should be deemed "final."

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